

ORDER OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN NATURAL RESOURCES BOARD  
AMENDING, REPEALING AND RECREATING AND CREATING RULES

The Wisconsin Natural Resources Board proposes an order to amend NR 20.16(1)(a)16, NR 20.20(1)(g), (4)(h), (5)(e), (12)(f), (13)(g), (15)(c), (16)(g)5, (18)(g), (19)(d), (21)(g), (22)(f), (23)(e), (25)(g), (32)(f)1, (33)(f), (37)(h), (38)(e), (39)(f)1 & 2, (42)(e)1, (43)(e), (44)(f), (50)(g)3., 4., 5. & 6., (51)(f), (53)(f), (54)(e), (56)(i), (57)(h), (61)(c), (62)(c)3., 4., 5., & 6., (63)(c), (64)(g), (66)(f), (69)(f)2., (70)(f)2. & 3., (73)(g)2; repealing and recreating NR 20.20(3)(e), (6)(g), (7)(g), (9)(f), (17)(f), (26)(f), (31)(b), (34)(d), (35)(f), (36)(b), (47)(g), (48)(b), (49)(e), (55)(d), (60)(d); (68)(f)1.; and creating NR 20.20(2)(f)2m relating to trout fishing on the inland waters of Wisconsin

FH-14-02

Analysis Prepared by Department of Natural Resources

Statutory authority: ss.29.014(1), 29.041 and 227.11(2), Stats.

Statutes interpreted: ss.29.014(1) and 29.041, Stats.

Section 1: The following descriptions of trout streams open during the early season are changed in Waushara County. On the Mecan river the upstream boundary is changed from 12<sup>th</sup> avenue to 11th road. On Willow creek the upstream boundary is changed from Blackhawk drive to Blackhawk road. On the White river the upstream boundary is changed from STH 22 to STH 21.

Section 2: The following trout regulations are changed in Adams County. On Deep, Jordan, Parker and Wolf lakes the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 to 9 inches. On Big Roche a Cri creek (Big Roche a Cri lake upstream to CTH W) the length limit is changed from 9 to 12 inches for brown and rainbow trout and from 9 to 8 inches for brook trout. On Fairbanks creek the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the slot size limit (5 trout under 8, or 4 trout under 8 and 1 over 12) is changed to a minimum size limit of 12 inches for brown and rainbow trout and 8 inches for brook trout. On White creek (Campbell) CTZ upstream to Easton dam the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 1 and the minimum length limit is changed from 12 to 15 inches for brown and rainbow trout and from 8 to 15 inches for brook trout. On Upper Neenah creek the daily bag limit is changed from 1 to 2 and the minimum length limit is changed from 18 to 14 inches.

Section 3: The following trout regulations are changed in Ashland County. On Devil's creek, Frames creek, Spring brook, and Waboo creek the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 to 9 inches.

Section 4: The following trout regulations are changed in Barron County. All waters not listed in the code are changed from a daily bag limit of 10 (only 5 may be brown and rainbow) to 5 and the minimum size limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

**Section 5:** The following trout regulations are changed in Bayfield County. The boundaries on the Namekagon river that has a daily bag limit of 3 and a minimum size limit of 9 inches is changed from "from CTH M downstream to Sawyer County line" to "downstream to Pacawong dam (Sawyer County)". On Spring (T44N R9W S28), Nymphia and Overby (Blaisdell) lakes the closing date of trout season is changed from March 1 to September 30. On the White river and its tributaries upstream from Pikes bridge the wording is clarified for areas closed to the early trout season and springs are added. On Cap creek the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 0 (catch and release) and the minimum size limit of 7 inches is eliminated. On Shultz springs the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 brown and rainbow trout) to 0 (catch and release) and the minimum size limit of none is eliminated. On "All waters not listed except Lake Superior" the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 brown and rainbow trout) to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 6: The following trout regulations are changed in Brown County. On Haller creek and Bay Beach lagoons the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 brown and rainbow trout) to 3 and no size limit continues. On "All other waters except Green Bay and its tributaries" the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 brown and rainbow trout) to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 7: The following trout regulations are changed in Buffalo County. On Creek 5-9, Center, Newton Valley, North Branch Little Bear, Owen Valley, Little Bear, Norwegian Valley, Spring and Weisenbeck Valley creeks the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum size limit is changed from 7 to 12 inches for brown and rainbow trout and 8 inches for brook trout. On “All waters not listed” the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 to 9 inches.

**Section 8:** The following trout regulations are changed in Burnett County. On Clam river (south fork), Clam river springs, Clam river (north fork from Washburn County line downstream to Clam lake), and Sand creek the minimum length limit of 7 inches is changed to a maximum size limit of 12 inches. On Clam river springs, Indian creek, Krantz creek, Spencer creek and Spring brook the minimum size limit of none is changed to a maximum size limit of 12 inches. On “All other waters not listed” the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 and the minimum size limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 9: The following trout regulations are changed in Chippewa County. On Elk creek minimum size limit is changed from 9 inches to a protected slot length limit of 10 to 14 inches. On Creek 35-12 the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to a protected slot length limit of 10 to 14 inches. On Duncan creek upstream from STH 64 the daily bag limit is changed from 10 to 5 (only 1 over 14 inches) and the minimum size limit is changed from none to a protected slot length limit of 10 to 14 inches. On Duncan creek from STH 64 downstream to Bloomer dam the daily bag limit is changed from 5 (only 1 over 12 inches) to 5 (only 1 over 14 inches), and the protected slot length limit of 8 to 12 inches is changed to a protected slot length limit of 10 to 14 inches. On Duncan creek downstream of Bloomer dam the minimum size limit is changed from 9 to 8 inches. On Hay (Woodmohr township) the minimum size limit is changed from 9 to 8 inches. On Big Elk creek, Creek 5-16, Creek 17-11 and Creek 33-15 the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 to 8 inches. On Bradley, Dark, and Henneman lakes the closing date for the trout season is changed from September 30 to March 1. On “All waters not listed” the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to 12 inches for brown trout and 8 inches for brook trout.

Section 10: The following trout regulations are changed for Crawford County. On Boydtown creek (T7N, R4W, S2), Buck creek (T10N, R6W, S22), DuCharme creek (T18N, R6W, S18), Picatee creek (T8N, R7W, S25), Creek 1-3 (T7N, R7W, S1), Creek 2-15 (T9N, R6W, S2), and Creek 33-8 (T9N, R6W, S33), the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release), and the minimum length limit of 9 inches is removed.

Section 11: The following trout regulations are changed for Dane County. On Black Earth creek from Park street upstream to South Valley road and Mount Vernon creek in posted area between CTH U and STH 92 the daily bag limit is changed from 3 in total with only 1 brown trout to 0 (catch and release) and the size limits are removed. On Big Spring creek from the Iowa county line upstream to Barber road and German Valley creek upstream to CTH Z the minimum size limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brook trout are changed to 9 inches for all trout.

Section 12: The following trout regulations are changed for Door County. On all waters in Door County except Green Bay, Lake Michigan and their tributaries the daily bag limit is changed from 10 in total (only 5 may be brown and rainbow trout) to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

**Section 13:** The following trout regulations are changed for Douglas County. On “All other waters not listed except Lake Superior” the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns or rainbows) to 5 in total and the minimum size limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 14: The following trout regulations are changed for Dunn County. On Big Beaver creek, Blairmoor branch, Bolen creek, Eighteen Mile creek, Fall creek, Gilbert creek (upstream to North Branch Gilbert creek), Hay creek (Wilson and Sand cr.twn.), Hay river (south fork), Irving creek, Otter creek, Otter creek (east branch), and Wilson creek, the minimum length limit is changed from 9 inches to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. On Big Elk creek and Creek 17-11 the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and minimum size limit is changed from 7 to 8 inches. On Elk creek the protected slot size limit that was in effect for the section from the first Eau Claire county line downstream of Plaquet drive upstream to CTH EE is expanded to the entire creek. On

Sand creek the daily bag limit will no longer include “only 1 may be a brown trout over 18 inches”. On “All waters not listed” the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to 12 inches for brown and rainbow trout and 8 inches for brook trout.

Section 15: The following trout regulations are changed for Eau Claire County. On Bridge creek the Rodell millpond is added to the current regulation of a daily bag limit of 3 and a minimum size limit of 9 inches. On Elk creek the minimum length limit of 9 inches is changed to a protected slot length limit from 10 to 14 inches. On Fall creek (including Fall creek pond) the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 8 inches. All of Otter creek (not just upstream from CTH AA) is also now covered by the daily bag limit of 3 and minimum length limit of 9 inches. On Travis creek the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 7 inches. On Big, Hoyts (Peaso), Lindsey, and Pine (Town of Clear Creek) creeks the daily bag limits are changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limits are changed from 7 to 9 inches. On Bear Grass, Clear, Coon, Graham, Rock, and Swan creeks the daily bag limits are changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limits are changed from 7 to 12 inches for brown trout and 8 inches for brook trout.

**Section 16:** The following regulations are changed for Florence County. On Wisconsin creek the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. On Fisher lake, Patten lake, and Pine river flowage the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches. On all other waters the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 17: The following trout regulations are changed for Forest County. On Lucerne lake the daily bag limit for brown trout is changed from 3 to 2 and the minimum length limit for brown trout is changed from 16 to 12 inches. On Otter creek (north) and springs the protected slot length limit is changed to a minimum length limit of 7 inches. On Little Cub Lake the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5. On all other waters not listed the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 and the minimum size limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 18: The following trout regulations are changed for Grant County. On Big Rock creek, Castle Rock creek (upstream from Church road), Doc Smith branch (upstream from 1/2 mile above from Everson road), Leggett creek, Little Grant river (CTH A upstream to Grovier road), Little Platte river (upstream from STH 80), Newell creek, and Warner creek, the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brook trout to 9 inches. On Blue river (Biba road upstream to Snow Bottom road), Castle Rock creek (Witek road upstream to second (middle) CTH Q bridge), and Millville creek, the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 2 and the minimum length limit is changing from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 12 inches for all species. On Big Spring branch (downstream from Pine Tree road) and Six Mile branch (downstream from Pine Tree road) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 2 and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 12 inches. On Borah creek (upstream from Bluff road) and Little Green river the protected slot length limit is changed to a minimum length of 9 inches. On Crooked creek (upstream from STH 133) the protected slot length limit is changed to a harvest slot length limit of 10 to 13 inches. On the Big Green river (upstream from CTH T) the minimum length limit of 9 inches is changed to a harvest slot length limit of 10 to 13 inches. On Borah creek (downstream from Bluff road), Bronson creek, Grant river (junction of Borah creek and Rogers branch downstream to CTH K), and Rogers branch (downstream from Borah road), the daily bag limit is changed from 0 (catch and release) to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 9 inches. On the Blue river (upstream from Bluff road), Castle Rock creek (first (upper) CTH Q bridge below Church road downstream to second (middle) CTH Q bridge), Doc Smith creek (1/2 mile upstream from Everson road), and Little Grant river (Grovier road upstream to Milner road) the daily bag limit has changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release with artificial lures only) and the minimum size limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks has been eliminated. On the Grant river (CTH A upstream to CTH K) the daily bag limit has changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release) and the minimum length limit of 9 inches has been eliminated.

Section 19: The following trout regulations are changed for Green County. On Brennan creek the minimum length limits are changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 9 inches for all species.

Section 20: The following trout regulations are changed for Iowa County. On Baker creek, Cave Hollow creek, Gordon creek (from downstream-most Brue road bridge upstream to Spring creek road), Otter creek (upstream from Mt. Hope road), Pompey Pillar creek (downstream from CTH I), and Smokey Hollow creek (downstream from CTH P) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 2 and the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 12 inches for all species. On Big Rock creek, Blue river (upstream from ½ mile above Blue river road bridge), Dodge branch (Jonesdale upstream to CTH Y), Gordon creek (upstream from Spring creek road), Lee creek (upstream from Berg road), Martin branch, Narveson creek, Smith-Conley creek, and the Yellowstone river, the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 9 inches for all species. On Harker creek (upstream from upper Mt. Hope road bridge), Lee creek (downstream from Berg road), Love creek, Mill creek (Mill road upstream to the mill dam), Strutt creek, and Trout creek (upstream from south line of Sec. 30, T7N, R5E) the protected slot length limit is changed to a minimum length limit of 9 inches. On Gordon creek (West Moscow road upstream to ½ mile downstream of STH 39) the daily bag limit of 3 is changed to 0 (catch and release with artificial lures not required) and the minimum length limit of 9 inches is removed. On Gordon creek (from ½ mile downstream of STH 39 upstream to downstream-most Brue road) artificial lures are no longer required. On Mill creek (Mill dam road downstream to CTH H) and Trout creek (downstream from south line of Sec. 30, T7N, R5E) the protected slot length limit is changed to a daily bag limit of 0 (catch and release) and artificial lures are not required. On the Blue river (county line upstream to ½ mile upstream of Blue river road) and Otter creek (CTH Q upstream to Plank road) the daily bag limit of 3 is changed to 0 (catch and release with artificial lures only) and the minimum size limits are removed. On Kittleson Valley creek the daily bag limit is changed from 0 (catch and release) to 3, and a minimum length limit of 9 inches is added.

**Section 21:** The following trout regulations are changed for Iron County. On Oronto creek and Pareker creek, the opening day of the season is changed from the last Saturday in March to the Saturday nearest April 1. On Boomer creek, Fourche creek, Flood Creek the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 to 9 inches. On Plunkett (Sugar) lake the daily bag limit is changed from 5 (only 1 longer than 12 inches) to 5 in total and the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and 8 inches for brooks to 7 inches for all species.

Section 22: The following trout regulations are changed for Kewaunee County. On Casco and Little Scarboro creeks the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches. On Krohns lake the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 7 inches. On “All other waters except Lake Michigan, Lake Michigan tributaries, Green Bay and its tributaries upstream to the first dam or lake” the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 7 inches.

Section 23: The following trout regulations are changed for La Crosse County. On Bohemian Valley creek the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to a maximum length limit of 12 inches.

Section 24: The following trout regulations are changed for LaFayette County. On Lovett’s creek and Steiner creek (upstream from CTH F) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release) and the minimum size limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brook trout no longer applies. On Wolf creek (junction with Trout brook upstream to Dunbarton road and Cub Hollow road upstream) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 2 and the minimum length limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks is changed to 12 inches for all species. On all other waters the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 9 inches for all species.

Section 25: The following trout regulations are changed for Langlade County. On Blue springs and Hunting river downstream from Fitzgerald Dam road the daily bag limit is changed from 2 (only 1 brown and 1 brook) to 1 and the minimum length limit is changed from 20 to 18 inches for browns and 14 to 12 inches for brooks and rainbows. On Unnamed springs (Polar or Pages) 2-1 S2 T33N R11E, Unnamed springs 2-14 S2 T33N R11E, Unnamed springs (Weix) 3-7 S3 T33N R11E, and Willow springs the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 1 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 18 inches for browns and 12 inches for brooks and rainbows. On Wooduck springs the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 1 and the minimum size limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 18 inches for browns and 12 inches for

brooks and rainbows. On Eau Claire river (east branch) from Bluebell road downstream to River road the daily bag limit is changed from 2 (only 1 brown and 1 rainbow) to 2 in total and the minimum length limit is changed from 20 inches for browns and 14 inches for brooks to 12 inches for all species. On Spring brook downstream from CTH X including Marathon County the protected slot length limit of 8 to 14 inches with a 5 daily bag limit is changed to a daily bag limit of 2 and minimum length limit of 12 inches. On Moose lake and Moose springs the daily bag limit is changed from 3 (only 1 brown longer than 17 inches and 1 brook longer than 13 inches) to 1 brown and 3 brooks and the minimum length limit is changed for brown trout from 12 to 18 inches and the season closing date is changed from March 30 to September 30. On Jack lake the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total. On Pence lake and Townline lake the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to none. On Clubhouse springpond, Drew creek, Demlow lakes (springs; upper & lower), Eau Claire river (east branch) excluding Bluebell road to River road, Elton springpond, Garski flowage, Hatton springs, Hogelee springs (No. 1 and No. 2), Maxwell spring, Mayking creek and flowage, Nixon springs, Saul spring, Starks springs, Sunshine springs, Thompson lake (springs), Trout spring, and Woods flowage the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 9 inches for all species. On the Eau Claire river (main branch) including Marathon County downstream to CTH 52, the daily bag limit changes from 10 (only 5 browns or rainbows) to 3 in total and the minimum length limit changes from none to 9 inches. On Hoglot springs the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 to 9 inches. On Duck pond (springs), Ormsby pond, Hanson flowage (springs) and Squaw creek the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 7 inches. On all waters not listed the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 26: The following trout regulations are changed for Lincoln County. On Hiltz lake, Long lake, and Bass lake the closing date of the open season is changed from March 1 to September 30, the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5, and the minimum length limit is changed from 12 to 7 inches. On the Prairie river the downstream boundary of the special regulations section is changed from Hackbarth drive to STH 17. Also on this section, the daily bag limit is changed from 2 trout in total (only 1 brown and only 1 brook) to 1 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from 20 inches for browns and 14 inches for brooks to 18 inches for browns and 12 inches for brooks and rainbows. On Henson lake, Horgen lake, Larson lake, and Moraine lake the, and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to none. On the Prairie river (north branch) upstream from 2<sup>nd</sup> crossing of CTH J, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. On the Copper river (middle fork), Copper river (north fork), and Copper river (south fork) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5, and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 7 inches. On all other waters not listed the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 27: The following trout regulations are changed for Manitowoc County. On Horseshoe lake and "All other waters except Lake Michigan and Lake Michigan tributaries" the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5, and minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 7 inches.

Section 28: The following trout regulations are changed for Marathon County. On the Eau Claire river (main branch) upstream from STH 52, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 3, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 9 inches. On Koepsel springs the bag limit is changed from 1 to 5, and the minimum size limit is changed from 15 to 7 inches. On the Plover river from CTH Z upstream to outlet of Totten springs, the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3, and the minimum length limit is changed from 14 inches for brooks and 7 inches for browns to a harvest slot of 10 to 13 inches. On Spring brook the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 2, and the protected slot length limit of 8 to 14 inches is changed to a minimum length limit of 12 inches. For all waters not listed, the bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 29: The following trout regulations are changed for Marinette County. On the Peshtigo river between Johnson falls and Springs rapids, the minimum length limit is changed from 10 inches for brooks and rainbows to 12 inches. On Left Foot lake the reference to splake is removed for both the daily bag limit and the minimum length limit. On Beaver creek (north branch), K. C. creek, and Pike river (north branch) the boundaries are changed for the portion on those streams with a daily bag limit of 3 and a minimum length limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. On Noquebay lake, Lindquist lake, Montana lake, Murphy lake, Sand lake and

“All other waters except Green Bay and its tributaries”, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 30: The following trout regulations are changed for Marquette County. The description of the Mecan river from 14th avenue downstream to Germania barrier is changed to “Germania marsh barrier”. On Neenah creek (upper) upstream from STH 82, the daily bag limit is changed from 1 to 2, and the minimum length limit is changed from 18 inches to 14 inches.

Section 31: The following trout regulations are changed for Monroe County. On Rullands Coulee creek the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5 and the minimum length limit of 9 inches is changed to a maximum length limit of 12 inches. On Bohemian Valley creek the minimum length limit of 7 inches is changed to a maximum length limit of 12 inches.

Section 32: The following trout regulations are changed for Oconto County. On the Oconto river (south branch) between CTH AA and STH 32, the minimum length limit is changed from 6 to 12 inches for rainbows. On White lake the specific reference to splake is removed from the daily bag limit and the minimum length limit descriptions. On the Oconto river (1st south branch), the upstream boundary is changed from Pats Lake road to STH 64 for the daily bag limit of 3 and minimum length limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. On Town springs the minimum size limit is changed from 9 inches for all species to 12 inches for browns and rainbows, and 8 inches for brooks. On Town creek the minimum size limit is changed from 7 inches for all species to 12 inches for browns and rainbows, and 8 inches for brooks. On Grignon lake and Wiscobee lake, the bag limit has changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total and the minimum length limit has changed from none to 7 inches.

**Section 33:** The following trout regulations are changed for Oneida County. On Clear lake (T39N R7E S16) the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and 8 inches for brooks to 12 inches for all species. On Hawk lake the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total. On all waters not listed the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 34: The following trout regulations are changed for Pepin County. On Plum creek (CTH SS downstream to the Chippewa river) the daily bag limit has changed from 3 to 2, and the minimum length limit has changed from 9 to 12 inches. On Arkansas, Bogus, and Rock creeks the daily bag limit has changed from 5 to 3, and the minimum length limit has changed from 7 inches to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. On all waters not listed the minimum length limit has changed from 9 inches to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks.

Section 35: The following trout regulations are changed for Pierce County. On the Eau Galle river and all tributaries except Cady creek, Kinnickinnic river south fork, and River Falls pond, the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3, and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. On the Kinnickinnic river upstream from Lower dam in River Falls, and Kinnickinnic river lakes, the minimum size limit of 7 inches is changed to a protected slot length limit of 10 to 14 inches. On the Kinnickinnic river downstream from Lower dam in River Falls and Rocky branch, the protected slot length limit of 12 to 16 inches is changed to 10 to 14 inches. On Isabelle creek and Plum creek and tributaries, the minimum size limit is changed from 9 inches to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks.

**Section 36:** The following trout regulations are changed for Polk County. On Ore creek, Sand creek, and Spencer creek, the minimum length limit of 7 inches is changed to a maximum length limit of 12 inches. On all other waters not listed, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 37: The following trout regulations are changed for Portage County. On the Tomorrow river from Waupaca county line upstream to Durant road, the minimum length limit for brook and rainbow trout has changed from 10 to 12 inches. On the Tomorrow river from old railroad bridge crossing north of Amherst upstream to Poncho creek, the daily bag limit is changed from 1 to 3 in total (with only 1 over 20 inches), and the minimum length limit of 18 inches for browns and 10 inches for brooks is changed to a harvest slot of 10 to 13 inches and 1 trout over 20 inches.

Section 38: The following trout regulations are changed for Price County. On Dave lake the open season is extended to March 1, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches. On all other waters not listed the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

**Section 39:** The following trout regulations are changed for Richland County. On Babb Hollow creek, Coulter Hollow creek, East Branch of Mill creek, Happy Hollow creek, Higgins creek, Hood Hollow creek, Jacquish Hollow creek, Lost Hollow creek, Mill creek and tributaries (Quarry Hill road upstream to Hood Hollow lane and CTH E bridge ¼ mile south of Sabin upstream), Miller branch, Pine Valley creek, Smith Hollow creek (upstream from Robin Hollow road), West Branch of Mill creek, Wheat Hollow creek, and unnamed tributaries to Willow creek (upstream from Ithaca dam), the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 9 inches for all species. On Camp creek and unnamed tributaries, East Branch of Marshall creek, Elk creek and unnamed tributaries, Fancy creek and unnamed tributaries, Gault Hollow creek (upstream from CTH H), Grinsell creek, Hanzel creek, Hoke creek, Hynek Hollow creek, Marshall creek, unnamed tributaries to Melancton creek, South Bear creek, South Branch of Marshall creek, and West Branch of Marshall creek, the protected slot length limit of 14 to 18 inches is changed to a minimum length limit of 9 inches. On Bear creek (STH 130 bridge in Sec. 14, T9N, R2E upstream to county line), Little Willow creek (downstream from Spiral road), Pine river (uppermost STH 80 bridge downstream to CTH AA), and Willow creek (Ithaca dam downstream 2.75 miles to STH 58 bridge), the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 2, and a minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 12 inches. On Willow creek (Ithaca dam upstream to Lost Hollow road and STH 58 bridge 0.25 miles north of Loyd upstream to county line) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 2, and the minimum length limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks is changed to 12 inches for all species. On Pine river (uppermost STH 80 bridge upstream to CTH CH bridge in Village of Yuba) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release with bait allowed) and the minimum length limit of 9 inches is removed. On Ash creek and the West Branch of Pine river (CTH H upstream to Spangler Ridge road), the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release with artificial lures only), and the minimum length limit of 9 inches is removed. On Mill creek (USH 14 upstream to Quarry Hill road) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release with artificial lures only) and the minimum length limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks is removed. On Mill creek (Hood Hollow land upstream to CTH E) and Smith Hollow creek (Smyth Hollow road upstream to Robin Hollow road), the daily bag limit is changed from 0 (catch and release) to 3 and the minimum length limit of 9 inches is added. On Melancton creek the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release with artificial lures only), and the protected slot length limit is removed.

Section 40: The following trout regulations are changed for Rock County. On Raccoon creek and East Raccoon creek, the use of artificial lures is added, the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release), and the minimum length limit of 9 inches is removed.

**Section 41:** The following trout regulations are changed for Rusk County. On Bass (Weyerhaeuser) lake the minimum length limit has changed from none to 15 inches. On Main creek (south fork) the minimum length limit has changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 9 inches for all species. On Devils creek trout pond the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5, and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 7 inches. On Corbett lake and Hawkins mill pond the daily bag limit has changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5, and the minimum length limit has changed from none to 7 inches. On all other streams not listed the daily bag limit changes from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total, and the minimum length limit changes from none to 7 inches.

Section 42: The following trout regulations are changed for Sauk County. On Smith Hollow creek the minimum size limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 9 inches for all species. On Camels creek, Dell creek (STH 23 upstream to Coon Bluff road), and McCarville creek (downstream from McCarville road), the daily bag limit is changed from 0 (catch and release) to 3, and a 9 inch minimum length limit is added. On Bear creek (county line upstream to CTH N and Croal Hollow road upstream) the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 2, and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 12 inches. On Bear creek (CTH N upstream to Croal Hollow road) artificial lures are no longer required (bait is allowed). On Willow creek the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 2, and the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 12 inches for all species.

**Section 43:** The following trout regulations are changed for Sawyer County. On Hauer springs, Osgood lake, and Porcupine lake the daily bag limit is changed from 2 (only 1 longer than 15 inches) to 1, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 15 inches. On the Namekagon river from STH 63 upstream to Pacawong dam, the daily bag limit is changed from 3 (only 1 longer than 15 inches) to 1, and the protected slot length limit of 10 to 15 inches is changed to a minimum length limit of 15 inches. On Silverthorn lake and Black Dam lake the minimum length limit is changed from none to 15 inches. On the South branch Marshall creek the protected slot length limits are changed to a daily bag limit of 5 and a minimum length limit of 7 inches. On Round lake the open season is extended to March 1, the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 1, and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 18. On Fiddler creek the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 0 (catch and release). On all other streams not listed, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

**Section 44:** The following trout regulations are changed for St. Croix County. On the Apple river the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5 and the minimum length limit is changed from 9 to 7 inches. On Bolen creek and Ten Mile creek, the minimum length limit is changed from 9 inches to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. On the Kinnickinnic river and Parker creek the minimum length limit of 7 inches is changed to a protected slot length limit of 10 to 14 inches. On the Willow river downstream from Willow Falls, the daily bag limit is changed from 1 to 3, and the minimum length limit is changed from 16 inches for all trout to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks. For all waters not listed, the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3, and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks.

**Section 45:** The following trout regulations are changed for Taylor County. On the Big Rib river downstream from STH 64, the closing date of the season is corrected from March 1 to September 30. On all other waters not listed, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

**Section 46:** The following trout regulations are changed for Trempealeau County. On Beaver creek (from STH 53 (S3, T19N, R8W) downstream to STH 53(S16, R19N, R8W)), the artificial lure restriction is removed, the daily bag limit is changed from 2 trout per day (only 1 brown) to 3, and the minimum length limit is changed from 18 inches for browns and 10 inches for brooks and rainbows to 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks.

**Section 47:** The following trout regulations are changed for Vernon County. On Esofea pond the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 3 and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 to 9 inches. On Bishop branch the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5, and the minimum length limit of 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks is changed to a maximum length limit of 12 inches for all species. On Coon creek (CTH KK upstream to CTH P), Jersey Valley lake, Runge Hollow lake, and Sidie Hollow lake, the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks to 9 inches for all species. On Bear creek (south) and Elk creek, the protected slot length limit of 14 to 18 inches is changed to a minimum length limit of 9 inches. On Melanethon creek the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release) and protected slot length limit is removed. On Esofea branch upstream of Rung Hollow lake to Saxford road, Creek 16-6 (T13N, R7W, S16), and Creek 29-4 (T13N, R7W, S29), the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release) and the minimum size limit of 9 inches is removed. On Timber Coulee creek from CTH P upstream to Olstad road, the daily bag limit is changed from 1 to 0 (catch and release), and the minimum size limit of 14 inches is removed. On Seas Branch a mistake is corrected that required the use of barbless hooks. For Timber Coulee creek other than that portion from CTH P upstream to Olstad road, the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5, and the minimum length limit of 9 inches is changed to a maximum length limit of 12 inches.

**Section 48:** The following trout regulations are changed for Vilas County. On Black Oak lake the daily bag limit is changed from 5 (only 1 lake trout) to 1 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from 26 inches for lake trout and 12 inches for other trout to 26 inches for all species. On Shannon lake the ending date of the open season is changed from March 1 to September 30. On Fallison lake the minimum length limit is changed from 8 to 7 inches. On Long lake and Sparking lake the minimum length limit is changed from 12 to 7 inches. On Deerskin river from Blackjack creek downstream (Deerskin flowage no longer exists and is removed), the minimum length limit is changed for brook trout from 10 to 12 inches. On Allequash creek, Allequash springs, Goodyear springs, Military creek, Pioneer creek from Church road downstream to Wisconsin river, Salsich springs, Salsich creek,



Siphon creek, Siphon springs, Tamarack creek downstream from Rummels road, the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 5, and the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and rainbows and 8 inches for brooks, to 7 inches for all species. On Bluegill lake, Fire Fly lake, Little John Jr. Lake, Otto Mielke lake, Pauto lake and Dadek lake, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 to 5. On all other waters, the bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5, and the minimum limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

Section 49: The following trout regulations are changed for Washburn County. On the Brill river the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 3 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 12 inches for browns and rainbows, and 8 inches for brooks. On Sawmill and Tozer lakes the daily bag limit is changed from 5 to 2, and the minimum length limit is changed from 7 inches to 12 inches. On all landlocked lakes and ponds without outlet streams, not otherwise listed, the open season is extended from September 30 to March 1, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches. On all streams, spring ponds, and lakes with outlet streams, not otherwise listed, the daily bag limit is changed from 10 (only 5 browns and rainbows) to 5 in total, and the minimum length limit is changed from none to 7 inches.

**Section 50:** The following trout regulations are changed for Waukesha County. On McKeawn springs and Scuppernong springs the daily bag limit is changed from 3 to 0 (catch and release), and the minimum size limit of 9 inches is removed.

Section 51: The following trout regulations are changed for Waupaca County. On the Waupaca river from River road upstream to Portage county line, the minimum length limit is changed from 10 inches for brooks to 12 inches for brooks and rainbows.

**Section 52:** The following trout regulations are changed for Waushara County. On the White river (main branch) upstream from Lower White River millpond, the minimum length limit is changed from 12 inches for browns and 9 inches for brooks and rainbows to 12 inches for all species.

Section 53: The following trout regulations are changed for Wood County. On Ten Mile creek downstream from Rangeline road, the minimum length limit is changed from 16 inches to 15 inches.

---

SECTION 1. NR 20.16(1)(a)16 is amended to read:

NR 20.16(1)(a)16. 'Waushara county'. Carter creek, Leola ditch, Mecan river downstream from ~~12<sup>th</sup> avenue~~ 11<sup>th</sup> road, Pine river downstream from CTH K to Poy Sippi pond, Roche-a-Cri creek, Willow creek from Blackhawk ~~drive road~~ to 29<sup>th</sup> lane, and White river from ~~STH 22~~ 21 to lower White River millpond.

SECTION 2. NR 20.20(1)(g) is amended to read:

(1) **ADAMS** (for species or waters not listed see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Deep, Jordan, Parker and Wolf lakes	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<del>5</del> <u>3</u> in total	<del>7</del> <u>9</u>
	<del>2. Big Roche a Cri creek (Big Roche a Cri lake upstream to CTH W), East Castle Rock ditch</del>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
	2m. <u>Big Roche a Cri creek (Big Roche a Cri lake upstream to CTH W) and Fairbanks creek.</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>3</u> in total	<u>Brown and rainbow 12, brook 8</u>
	3. White creek (Campbell) CTZ upstream to Easton dam	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3</del> <u>1</u> in total	<del>Brown and rainbow 12, brook 8</del> <u>15</u>

4. Fairbanks, Fordham and Little Roche a Cri creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 <u>in total</u>	5 trout under 8, or 4 trout under 8 and 1 over 12
5. Neenah creek (Upper)	a. Hook and line but only artificial lures may be used.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>4</del> <u>2 in total</u>	<del>18</del> <u>14</u>
6. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 <u>in total</u>	7

SECTION 3. NR 20.20(2)(f)2m. is created to read:

(2) **ASHLAND** (for species or waters not listed, including Lake Superior, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	2m. Devil's creek, Frames creek, Spring brook, Waboo creek	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	9
----------------------	--	-------------------	--	-------------------	---

SECTION 4. NR 20.20(3)(e) is repealed and recreated to read:

(3) **BARRON** (for species or waters not listed see sub. (73))

(e) Trout and salmon	1. Brill river	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown trout 12, rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	2. Little Granite lake, Silver lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	7
	3. All other waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 5. NR 20.20(4)(h) is amended to read:

(4) **BAYFIELD** (for species or waters not listed, including Lake Superior, see sub. (73))

(h) Trout and salmon	1. Cranberry river downstream from Lenawee road, North Fork Fish creek downstream from its confluence with Pine creek, Flag river downstream from its confluence with East Fork Flag river, Iron river downstream from Orienta dam, Sioux river downstream from Big Rock falls, Siskiwit river from its mouth upstream to the second bridge crossing	a. Hook and line	Last Saturday in March to November 15	5 in total but only 2 may be brown trout longer than 15" and only 1 may be a rainbow trout	Brook trout 8, brown trout 10, salmon 12, rainbow trout 26
	2. Bono creek, Boyd creek, Onion river downstream from Lake Superior District Power Company power line (T49N R4W S6), Pikes creek downstream from Red dam, Pine creek downstream from its confluence with Little Pine Creek, Whittlesey creek downstream from Town Hall road	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to November 15	5 in total but only 2 may be brown trout longer than 15" and only 1 may be a rainbow trout	Brook trout 8, brown trout 10, salmon 12, rainbow trout 26

3. All other tributaries and portions of tributaries to Lake Superior not listed above	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total but only 2 may be brown trout longer than 15" and only 1 may be a rainbow trout	Brook trout 8, brown trout 10, salmon 12, rainbow trout 26
4. Long Lake branch of White river downstream from Taylor lane, White river downstream from Pikes bridge	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total but only 1 brown trout may be longer than 15"	9
5. Iron river upstream from Orienta dam, East Fork Iron river downstream from Sorenson_road, Namekagon river <del>from CTHM</del> downstream to <del>Sawyer county</del> <u>Pacawong dam (Sawyer county)</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
6. Perch lake, Wanoka lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	7
7. Balsam pond, Beaver lake, Little Star lake, Spring lake (T44N R9W S28)	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30 in odd numbered years only. <u>The season is closed in even numbered years</u>	5 in total	7
8. Spring lake (T44N R9W S28)	a. Hook and line	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1 in odd numbered years only</del>	5 in total	7
98. Nymphia lake, Overby (Blaisdell) lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to <del>March 1</del> <u>September 30</u> in even numbered years only. <u>The season is closed in odd numbered years</u>	5 in total	7
10. <del>Big brook, Bolen creek, Cap creek, Dechamps creek trib.(T48N R8W S32), Dechamps creek, Eighteen Mile creek &amp; spring, Five mile creek, Hanson creek, Hawkins creek, Hill creek, Iron river (east fork) upstream from East Fork road, Jader creek, Johnson creek &amp; springs, Kern creek, Little brook, Long lake branch unnamed tribs., Long lake branch of White river upstream from Taylor lane, Marengo river and unnamed tribs., Middle creek, Morgan creek, Muskeg creek, Ounce river downstream from STH 27, Pre-emption creek, Shacte creek, Spring creek, Tader creek, Townsend creek, Twenty Mile creek, Twenty Mile creek unnamed tribs., Whiskey creek and unnamed tribs.</del>	a. Hook and line	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	5 in total	7

<del>11.2. White river and its tributaries upstream from Pike River road Pikes bridge including South Fork, West Fork and East Fork White river (west fork), White river (east fork), White river (south fork), springs, and White river (unnamed Tributaries)</del>	a. Hook and line.	No early catch and release season – First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7
10. Cap creek, Schultz springs	a. <u>Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used.</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>0. All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	=
<del>11.1. All other waters not listed except Lake Superior</del>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>10 in total but only 5 may be brown trout and rainbow trout 5 in total</del>	<del>None 7</del>

SECTION 6. NR 20.20(5)(e) is amended to read:

**(5) BROWN** (for species or waters not listed, including Green Bay and its tributaries not specified in this subsection, see sub. (73))

(e) Trout and salmon	1. <u>Haller creek, Bay Beach lagoons</u>	a. <u>Hook and line.</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>3 in total</u>	<u>None</u>
	3.2. All <u>other</u> waters except Green Bay and its tributaries	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>10 in total but only 5 may be brown and rainbow trout 5 in total</del>	<del>None 7</del>

SECTION 7. NR 20.20(6)(g) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(6) BUFFALO** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Gilmanton pond	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>5 in total</u>	7
	2. Mirror lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<u>5 in total</u>	7
	3. Creek 5-9, Center, Newton Valley, Little Bear, Little Bear (north branch), Owen Valley, Norwegian Valley, Spring, Traverse Valley, Waumandee (Big) (upstream from CTH U (S25, T22N,R11W)), Waumandee (Little) (upstream from CTH E at Cream), and Weisenbeck Valley creeks	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	4. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	9

SECTION 8. NR 20.20(7)(g) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(7) BURNETT** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Clam river (south fork), Clam river springs, Clam river (north fork from Washburn county line downstream to Clam lake), Indian creek, Krantz creek, Sand creek, Spencer creek, Spring brook	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>5 in total</u>	5 trout under 12, none over 12
	2. All other waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 9. NR 20.20(9)(f) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(9) CHIPPEWA** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Elk creek, Creek 35-12	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	3 trout under 10 or 2 under 10 and 1 over 14
	2. Duncan creek downstream of Bloomer dam, Hay creek (Woodmohr township), Big Elk creek, Creek 5-16, Creek 17-11, Creek 33-15	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	8
	3. Bradley, Dark and Henneman lakes	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<u>3 in total</u>	9
	4. Duncan creek upstream from Bloomer dam	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>5 in total</u>	5 trout under 10 or 4 under 10 and 1 over 14
	4. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	Brown 12, brook 8

SECTION 10. NR 20.20(12)(f) is amended to read:

**(12) CRAWFORD** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. <u>Boydton creek (T7N, R4W, S2), Buck creek (T10N, R6W, S22), DuCharme creek (T18N, R6W, S18), Picatee creek (T8N, R7W, S25), Creek 1-3 (T7N, R7W, S1), Creek 2-15 (T9N, R6W, S2), Creek 33-8 (T9N, R6W, S33).</u>	a. <u>Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used.</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	-
	2. All waters <u>not listed</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	9

SECTION 11. NR 20.20(13)(g) is amended to read:

**(13) DANE** (For species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Black Earth creek from Park street upstream to South Valley road; Mount Vernon creek <u>in posted area between CTH U and STH 92</u>	a. Hook and line Only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May to September 30	<del>3 in total only</del> <del>1 may be a brown trout</del> <u>All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	<del>Brook and rainbow trout 9;</del> <del>brown trout 20</del> <u>None</u>
	<del>2. Big Spring creek from Iowa county line upstream to Barber road; German Valley creek upstream to CTH Z</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May to September 30</del>	<del>3 in total</del>	<del>Brown trout 12;</del> <del>Rainbow trout 12;</del> <del>brook trout 8</del>
	<del>3</del> 2. All other streams	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May to September 30	3 in total	9
	4 <del>3</del> . All lakes and ponds	a. Hook and line	January 1 to September 30	3 in total	9

SECTION 12. NR 20.20(15)(c) is amended to read:

(15) **DOOR** (for species or waters not listed, including Green Bay, Lake Michigan and their tributaries, see sub. (73))

(c) Trout and salmon	1. All waters except Green Bay, Lake Michigan and their tributaries	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>10 in total but only 5 may be brown and rainbow trout</del> <u>5</u>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>
----------------------	---	------------------	--	---	--------------------------

SECTION 13. NR 20.20(16)(g)5 is amended to read:

(16) **DOUGLAS** (for species or waters not listed, including Lake Superior, see sub. (73)). **Note:** Allouez bay, Little Pokegama bay, Kimballs bay and Pokegama bay are considered part of the St. Louis river, a Wisconsin-Minnesota boundary water. See chapter NR 21. The Nemadji river is an inland water that is contiguous with these Wisconsin-Minnesota boundary waters but is regulated under this subsection.

(g) Trout and salmon	5. <del>Anderson lake, Ounce river</del> <u>All other waters not listed except Lake Superior</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7
	6. <del>All other waters not listed except Lake Superior</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	<del>10 in total but only 5 may be brown trout and rainbow trout</del>	<del>None</del>

SECTION 14. NR 20.20(17)(f) is repealed and recreated to read:

(17) **DUNN** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Big Elk creek and Creek 17-11	a. Hook and Line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	8
	2. Vance creek, Lower Pine creek and Lower South Fork of Lower Pine creek	a. Hook and Line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 <u>in total</u>	7
	3. Elk creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	3 trout under 10, or 2 trout under 10 and 1 over 14
	4. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8

SECTION 15. NR 20.20(18)(g) is amended to read:

**(18) EAU CLAIRE** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Adams creek, Bridge creek ( <del>upstream from Dells</del> including <u>Rodell Mill pond</u> ), Diamond Valley creek, <del>Elk creek, Fall creek (upstream from STH 12),</del> Lowes creek, Otter creek ( <del>upstream from CTH 44A</del> ), Thompson Valley <del>and Travis creeks</del> creek, <u>Big creek, Hoyts (Peaso) creek, Lindsay creek, Pine creek (town of Clear Creek)</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	9
	2. <u>Fall creek (including Fall creek pond)</u>	a. Hook and line	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	3 <u>in total</u>	8
	3. <u>Bear Grass creek, Clear creek, Coon creek, Graham creek, Rock creek, Swan creek</u>	a. Hook and line	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	3 <u>in total</u>	<u>Brown trout 12, brook trout 8</u>
	4. <u>Elk creek</u>	a. Hook and line	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	3 <u>in total</u>	<u>3 trout under 10 or 2 under 10 and 1 over 14</u>
	2 <u>5</u> . All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 <u>in total</u>	7

SECTION 16. NR 20.20(19)(d) is amended to read:

**(19) FLORENCE** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(d) Trout and salmon	1. Brule river	a. Hook and line	No early catch and release season - Last Saturday in April to September 30	5 in total	Brown trout 12, brook trout 8
	2. Lamontagne creek, Pine river downstream from STH 139, <u>Wisconsin creek</u> , Woods creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	3. Sand lake (T39N, R18E, S13)	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
	4. Edith lake, Lost lake, South Riley lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	3 in total	9
	5. Anna lake, <u>Fisher lake</u> , Montgomery lake, <u>Patten lake</u> , <u>Pine river flowage</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	7
	6. <del>Chipmunk creek, Leroy creek (east fork), Leroy creek, Little Popple river (T3N, R19E), Montagne creek, Pembonwon river (north branch), Pine creek, Pine river upstream from STH 139, Popple river (south branch), Popple river, Sand lake (T38N, R18E, S21), Wisconsin creek</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	<del>5 in total</del>	<del>7</del>

<del>7. Fisher lake, Patten lake, Pine River flowage</del>	a. Hook and line	<del>First Saturday in May to September 30</del>	<del>10 but only 5 brown trout and rainbow trout</del>	<del>None</del>
8 <u>6</u> . All other waters	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at <u>5:00 a.m.</u> to September 30	<del>10 but only 5 brown trout and rainbow trout</del> <u>5</u>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>

SECTION 17. NR 20.20(21)(g) is amended to read:

**(21) FOREST** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Brule river	a. Hook and line	No early catch and release season - Last Saturday in April to September 30	5 in total	Brown trout 12, brook trout 8
	2. Lucerne lake	a. Hook and line	Lake trout - First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30. Other trout - First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	Lake trout 1, brown trout <del>3</del> <u>2</u>	Lake trout 26, brown trout <del>16</del> <u>12</u>
	<del>3. Otter creek (north) and springs</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	<del>5 in total but only 1 may be larger than 14 inches</del>	<del>None but the possession of fish from 10" through 14" is prohibited</del>
	4 <u>3</u> . Peshtigo river downstream from state highway 8	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	9
		b. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used	October 1 to November 15	0	--
	<del>5</del> <u>4</u> . Brule creek downstream from Fishel road (USFS road #2193), Elvoy creek downstream from Kaine road (USFS road # 2461), Elvoy springs (T41N R13E S20)	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	<u>5</u> . Little Cub lake	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>5 in total</u>	<u>None</u>



<p>6. Allen creek, Armstrong creek (west branch), Armstrong creek, Brule springs, Brule creek upstream from Fishel road (USFS road #2193), Camp One springs, Charlie Otto creek, Charlie Otto springs, Drake creek, Elvoy creek upstream from Kaine Lake road (USFS road #2461), Gliske creek, Halley creek, Hemlock creek, Hoffman springs, Hoffman creek, Indian springs (T35N R14E S18), Indian creek (T35N R14E S7), Johnson springs (T36 R14E), Johnson creek (T36 R14E), Jones springs, Jones creek, Kimball creek, McDonald creek (north branch), McDonald creek, Meadowbrook creek, Otter creek, Peshtigo river (west branch), Peshtigo river upstream from STH 8, Peshtigo river (north branch), Pine river (south branch), Pine creek, Pine river, Pine river (north branch), Popple river (north branch), Popple river, Rat river, Shabodock creek, Spencer creek, Swamp creek, Torpee Springs numbers 1 and 2, Torpee creek, Valley lake, White Deer lake</p>	<p>a. Hook and line</p>	<p>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</p>	<p>5</p>	<p>7</p>
<p>7 <u>5</u>. All other waters not listed</p>	<p>a. Hook and line</p>	<p>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</p>	<p><del>10</del> but only <u>5</u> brown trout and rainbow trout <u>5</u> in total</p>	<p><del>None</del> <u>7</u></p>

SECTION 18. NR 20.20(22)(f) is amended to read:

(22) GRANT (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. <del>Big Rock creek, Blue river (Biba road upstream to Snow Bottom road and upstream from Bluff road), Castle Rock creek (upstream from Witek road except Church road downstream to first CTH Q bridge), Doc Smith branch (upstream from Everson road), Leggett creek, Little Grant river (CTH A upstream to Milner road), Little Platte river (upstream from STH 80), Millville creek, Newell creek, Warner creek Big Spring branch (downstream from Pine Tree road), Blue river (Biba road upstream to Snow Bottom road), Castle Rock creek (Witek road upstream to second (middle) CTH Q bridge), Millville creek, Six Mile branch (downstream from Pine Tree road)</del>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3 in total</del> <u>2 in total</u>	<del>Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8</del> <u>12</u>
	2. Borah creek (upstream from Bluff road), Crooked creek (upstream from STH 133), Little Green river	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout shall be under 14 or over 18, brook trout shall be under 10 or over 14
	3 <del>2.</del> Big Green river (STH 133 upstream to CTH T), Big Spring creek <del>branch (upstream from Pine Tree road upstream to county line), Blue river (Snow Bottom road upstream to Bluff road- county line), Borah creek (downstream from Bluff road), Bronson creek, Castle Rock creek and spring (Church road downstream to first second (middle) CTH Q bridge), Doc Smith branch (downstream from Castle Rock creek upstream to ½ mile upstream from Everson road), Grant river (CTH <del>K</del> A upstream to junction of Borah creek and Rogers branch CTH K), Little Grant river (Grovier road upstream to Milner road), Little Platte river (Waterfall road upstream to STH 80), Rogers branch (downstream from Borah road)</del>	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	All trout caught shall be immediately released	-
3. Big Green river (upstream from CTH T), Crooked creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	All trout kept shall be between 10" and 13"	

4. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
--------------------------	------------------	--	------------	---

SECTION 19. NR 20.20(23)(e) is amended to read:

**(23) GREEN** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(e) Trout and salmon	1. <del>Brennan creek</del>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown trout and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	2 <u>1.</u> All <del>other</del> waters	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9

SECTION 20. NR 20.20(25)(g) is amended to read:

**(25) IOWA** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Baker creek, <del>Big Rock creek, Blue river, Canon creek, Cave Hollow creek, Dodge branch (Jonesdale upstream to CTH Y), Gordon creek (upstream from Blue lowermost Brue road upstream to Spring creek road), Lee creek (upstream from Berg road), Martin branch, Narveson creek, Otter creek (upstream from CTH Q Mt. Hope road), Pompey Pillar creek (downstream from CTH I), Smith Conley creek and Smokey Hollow creek (downstream from CTH P), Yellowstone river</del>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3</del> 2 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8 <u>12</u>
	2. <del>Harker creek (upstream from Upper Mt. Hope road), Lee creek (downstream from Berg road), Love creek, Gordon creek (West Moscow road upstream to Brue road), Mill creek (CTH H upstream to Mill dam road downstream to CTH H), Strutt creek, Trout creek (downstream of south line of S30, T7N, R5E)</del>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3</del> in total <u>All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	Brown and rainbow trout shall be under 14 or over 18, brook trout shall be under 10 or over 14 <u>-</u>
	3. Big Spring creek, <del>Gordon creek (0.5 mile downstream from STH 39 upstream to Brue road), Kittleson creek (downstream from River Fork road), Blue river (county line upstream to 1/2 mile upstream of Blue river road), Otter creek (CTH II upstream to CTH Q Plank road), Pompey Pillar creek (upstream from CTH I)</del>	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	All trout caught shall be immediately released	-
	4. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9

SECTION 21. NR 20.20(26)(f) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(26) IRON** (for species or waters not listed, including Lake Superior, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Montreal river downstream from Superior falls	a. Hook and line	Continuous	5 in total	10
	2. Montreal river upstream from Superior falls	a. Hook and line	April 26 to September 30	5 in total	7
	3. Graveyard creek downstream from U.S. hwy. 2	a. Hook and line	Last Saturday in March to November 15	5 in total but only 2 may be brown trout longer than 15" and only 1 may be a rainbow trout, and none may be brook trout until November 15, 2011	Brown trout 10, salmon 12, rainbow trout 26, brook trout 8 on or after November 15, 2011
	4. Oronto creek, Parker creek	a. Hook and line	Saturday nearest April 1 to November 15	5 in total but only 2 may be brown trout longer than 15" and only 1 may be a rainbow trout	Brook trout 8, brown trout 10, salmon 12, rainbow trout 26
	5. All other tributaries and portions of tributaries to Lake Superior not listed in subs. 1. to 4.	b. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total but only 2 may be brown trout longer than 15" and only 1 may be a rainbow trout	Brook trout 8, brown trout 10, salmon 12, rainbow trout 26
	6. Boomer creek, Fourche creek, Flood creek	b. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
	7. Plunkett (Sugar) and Weber lakes	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	7
	8. All other waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 22. NR 20.20(31)(b) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(31) KEWAUNEE** (for species or waters not listed, including Lake Michigan, Green Bay and their tributaries, see sub. (73))

(b) Trout and salmon	1. Krohns lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	7
	2. All other waters except Lake Michigan, Lake Michigan tributaries, Green Bay and its tributaries upstream to the first dam or lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 23. NR 20.20(32)(f)1 is amended to read:

**(32) LA CROSSE** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Bohemian Valley creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3</del> <u>5 in total but none may be longer than 12"</u>	<del>Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8</del> <u>maximum length limit 12"</u>
----------------------	--------------------------	------------------	--	--	---

SECTION 24. NR 20.20(33)(f) is amended to read:

**(33) LAFAYETTE** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Wolf creek <del>upstream from</del> (Dunbarton road <u>upstream</u> to Cub Hollow road), <u>Lovett's creek, Steiner creek (upstream from CTHF)</u>	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>0</del> <u>All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	--
	2. <del>Erickson creek, Sawmill creek</del> <u>Wolf creek (junction Trout brook upstream to Dunbarton road and upstream from Cub Hollow road)</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3 in total</del> <u>2 in total</u>	<u>9 12</u>
	3. All other waters	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	<del>Brown trout and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8</del> <u>9</u>

SECTION 25. NR 20.20(34)(d) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(34) LANGLADE** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(d) Trout and salmon	1. Wolf river from the Soo Line railroad bridge downstream to Dierks irrigation hole	b. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to November 15	0	-
	2. All other portions of the Wolf river	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
		b. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	October 1 to November 15	0	-
	3. Blue springs, Hunting river downstream from Fitzgerald Dam road, Unnamed springs (Polar or Pages) 2-1 S2 T33N R11E, Unnamed springs 2-14 S2 T33N R11E, Unnamed springs (Weix) 3-7 S3 T33N R11E, Willow springs, Wooduck springs	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	1 in total	Brown trout 18, brook and rainbow trout 12

4. Eau Claire river (East branch) from Bluebell road downstream to River road, McGee lake, Spring brook downstream from CTH X (including Marathon county)	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	2 in total	12
5. Moose lake, Moose springs	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	1 brown trout, 3 brook trout	Brown trout 18, brook trout 8
6. Jack lake, Pence lake, Townline lake (S6 T33N R10E)	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	None
7. Oconto river (south branch), Prairie river	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
8. Big Hay Meadow creek, Clubhouse springpond, Drew creek, Demlow lakes (springs; upper and lower), Eau Claire river (east branch) excluding Bluebell Road downstream to River road, Eau Claire river (main branch) - including Marathon County downstream to STH 52, Eau Claire river (west branch), Elton spring pond, Garski flowage, Hatton springs, Hogelee springs (No. 1 and No. 2), Hoglot springs, Maxwell spring, Maykingcreek and flowage, Nixon springs, Saul spring, Starks springs, Sunshine springs, Thompson lake (springs), Trout spring, Woods flowage (Bucks)	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
9. All other waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 26. NR 20.20(35)(f) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(35) LINCOLN** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Big Rib river	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	0	-
	2. Prairie river downstream from R & H road to STH 17	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	1 in total	Brown trout 18, brook and rainbow trout 12

3. Henson lake, Horgen lake, Larson lake, Moraine lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	None
4. King Spring, Pays (Alta) springs (S12 T33N R7E), Prairie river excluding R & H road downstream to STH 17, Prairie river (north branch), Spring lake (springs; S16 T32N R7E)	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
5. Big Hay Meadow creek, New Wood river upstream from Whisky Bill road (S19 T33N R5E), New Wood river (center fork), New Wood river (east fork)	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
6. Ament lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30 in even numbered years only	5 in total	7
7. Tahoe lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30 in odd numbered years only	5 in total	7
8. All other waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 27. NR 20.20(36)(b) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(36) MANITOWOC** (for species or waters not listed, including Lake Michigan and its tributaries, see sub. (73))

(b) Trout and salmon	1. Horseshoe lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	7
	2. All other waters except Lake Michigan and Lake Michigan tributaries	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 28. NR 20.20(37)(h) is amended to read:

**(37) MARATHON** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(h) Trout and salmon	<del>1. Big Cain creek, Cain creek, Comet creek, Fourmile creek (CTH KK upstream to CTH O), Freeman creek, Holt creek, Little Cain creek, Little Trappe river, McGinnis creek, Plover river (up stream from Totten Springs outlet) and Spranger creek</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	5	7
----------------------	---	-----------------------------	---	---	---

<del>2</del> <u>1</u> . Eau Claire river (main branch) upstream of STH 52, Flume creek, Silent springs and Jacobson springs	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	9
<del>3</del> <u>2</u> . Bear springs, Clark springs, Embarrass river (S. branch (downstream from Norrie road)), Little Wolf river (upstream to River drive), Plover river (STH 153 upstream to CTH Z) and Spiegel springs, Totten springs	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
<del>4</del> <u>Koepsel springs</u>	<del>a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	<del>1</del>	<del>15</del>
<del>5</del> <u>3</u> . Plover river (CTH Z upstream to outlet of Totten springs)	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>5</del> <u>3 in total</u>	<del>Brook trout 14 brown trout 7</del> <u>All trout kept shall be between 10-13"</u>
<del>6</del> <u>4</u> . Spring brook	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>5 trout under 8", or 4 trout 8" and 1 over 14"</del> <u>2 in total</u>	<del>5 trout under 8", or 4 trout 8 and 1 over 14</del> <u>12</u>
<del>7</del> <u>5</u> . All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>10 (only 5 browns and rainbows)</del> <u>5 in total</u>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>

SECTION 29. NR 20.20(38)(e) is amended to read:

**(38) MARINETTE** (for species or waters not listed, including Green Bay and its tributaries, see sub. (73))

(e) Trout and salmon	1. Peshtigo river between Johnson falls and Springs rapids	a. Hook and line <del>but only</del> . Only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	2 in total	Brook and rainbow trout <del>10</del> <u>12</u> , brown trout 18
	2. Peshtigo river upstream from CTH C	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
		b. Hook and line <del>but only</del> . Only artificial lures may be used	October 1 to November 15	0	-
3. Left Foot lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<del>2</del> <u>splake in total</u>	<del>Splake</del> <u>12</u>	



4. Beaver creek ( <u>including north branch and south branches</u> ) <del>mouth upstream to 25th road,</del> Beaver creek, Holmes creek, K. C. creek <del>from the mouth upstream to STH 8,</del> Middle Inlet creek, Pike river, north branch Pike river from the mouth upstream to <del>CCC Camp road</del> KC creek, Smith creek, Spikehorn creek, Thunder river (south fork), Thunder river (north fork), <u>Totten springs,</u> Wausaukee river	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
5. Thunder lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	3 in total	9
<del>6. Pothole lake</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1</del>	<del>5 in total</del>	<del>7</del>
7. <del>Beaver creek (south branch), Beaver creek (north branch) upstream from 25th road, Cedarville creek, Chemical creek, Eagle creek, Harvey creek, K. C. creek upstream from STH 8, Little Wausaukee creek, MacIntire creek, Meadow brook, Medicine brook, Middle Inlet creek (upper), Middle Inlet creek (lower), Miscauno creek, Miscauno creek (south branch), Murphy creek mouth upstream to Nelligan lake, Otter creek, Pemebonwon river (north branch), Pemebonwon river, Pemebonwon river (south branch), Pike river (south branch), Pike river (north branch), CCC Camp road to North pond, Pike river (little south branch), Rat river, Sidney creek mouth upstream to mouth of unnamed creek in NE 1/4 of SW 1/4, S21, T37N, R17E, Squaw creek, Sullivan creek, Thunder river</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	<del>5 in total</del>	<del>7</del>
8 <u>6.</u> Noquebay lake, Lindquist lake, Montana lake, Murphy lake, <u>Pothole lake,</u> Sand lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<del>10 in total but only 5 may be brown trout and rainbow trout 5 in total</del>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>
9 <u>7.</u> All other waters except Green Bay and its tributaries	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>10 in total but only 5 may be brown trout and rainbow trout 5 in total</del>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>

SECTION 30. NR 20.20(39)(f)1&2 are amended to read:

**(39) MARQUETTE** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Mecan river from 14th avenue downstream to Germania <u>marsh barrier</u>	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total but only 1 may be longer than 15 inches	12
	2. Neenah creek (upper) upstream from STH 82	a. Hook and line <del>but only.</del> Only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	4 <u>2</u> in total	<del>18</del> <u>14</u>

SECTION 31. NR 20.20(42)(e)1 is amended to read:

**(42) MONROE** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(e) Trout and salmon	1. Rullands Coulee creek, <u>Bohemian Valley creek</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3</del> <u>5 in total but none may be longer than 12"</u>	<u>9 Maximum length limit 12"</u>
----------------------	--	------------------	--	--	-----------------------------------

SECTION 32. NR 20.20(43)(e) is amended to read:

**(43) OCONTO** (for species or waters not listed, including Green Bay and its tributaries, see sub. (73))

(e) Trout and salmon	1. Oconto river (south branch) between CTH AA and STH 32	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>1 in total</u>	<u>Brook and rainbow trout 12, brown trout 18</u> <del>rainbow trout 6</del>
	2. White lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<del>2</del> <u>splake in total</u>	<del>Splake</del> <u>12</u>
	3. Forbes springs, Jones springs, Oconto river (1st south branch) <del>Pats Lake road</del> <u>STH 64</u> downstream to mouth, Oconto river (south branch) upstream from Menominee county line, Sullivan springs, Thunder river (north fork), Thunder river (south fork), <u>Town springs and creek</u> , Waupee creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	4. <del>Town springs</del> , Trout lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	9
	5. Mary lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<u>3 in total</u>	9
	6. <del>Nelligan lake</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1</del>	<del>5</del>	<del>7</del>
	7 <del>6</del> . Grignon lake, <u>Nelligan lake</u> , Wiscobee lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<del>10 except only 5 may be brown trout and rainbow trout</del> <u>5 in total</u>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>
	8 <u>7</u> . All other waters except Green Bay and its tributaries	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>5 in total</u>	7

SECTION 33. NR 20.20(44)(f) is amended to read:

**(44) ONEIDA** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Little Bass lake	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to November 15.	5 in total	12
	2. Big Carr, <u>Clear (T39N R7E S16), Dorothy, Perch (T36N R7E S2), Squash (T39N R8E S19)</u> lakes	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	12
	3. <u>Clear lake (T39N R7E S16)</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1</u>	<u>5 in total</u>	<u>Brown trout 12, brook trout 8</u>
	4. <u>Bearskin springs, Bearskin creek, Goodnow springs, Goodyear spring, Jennie creek, Kaubachien creek, Kitty springs, Kitty creek, Little Willow creek, Mercer springs, Mitchell (Harshaw) springs, Noisy creek, Smallpox creek, Smallpox springs, Spring pond 12-16 (T37N, R6E), Trout creek (T36, R7, S9), Woodboro springs</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>5 in total</u>	<u>7</u>
	3. <u>Hawk lake</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>5 in total</u>	<u>None</u>
5 4. All other waters	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>None</del> <u>5 in total</u>	<del>10</del> <u>but only 5 brown trout and rainbow trout 7</u>	

SECTION 34. NR 20.20(47)(g) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(47) PEPIN** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Plum creek (CTH SS downstream to the Chippewa river)	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	2 <u>in total</u>	12
	2. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	Brown trout 12, brook trout 8

SECTION 35. NR 20.20(48)(b) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(48) PIERCE** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(b) Trout and salmon	1. Kinnickinnic river including both flowages in River Falls and Rocky branch	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	5 trout under 10, or 4 trout under 10 and 1 over 14
	2. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8

SECTION 36. NR 20.20(49)(e) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(49) POLK** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(e) Trout and salmon	1. Apple river downstream from Black Brook dam	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	2. Ore creek, Sand creek, Spencer creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 <u>in total</u>	5 trout under 12, none over 12
	3. All other waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 37. NR 20.20(50)(g)3., 4., 5., & 6. are amended to read:

**(50) PORTAGE** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	3. Little Wolf river, Tomorrow river from Durant road upstream to Amherst dam, <del>Tomorrow river from First street in Nelsonville upstream to Clementson road,</del> Tomorrow river upstream from Poncho creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook 8
	4. Tomorrow river from Waupaca county line upstream to Durant road	a. Hook and line <del>but only.</del> <u>Only</u> artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	1 <u>in total</u>	Brown trout 18, brook <del>&amp; rainbow</del> trout <del>10</del> <u>12</u>
	5. Tomorrow river from old railroad bridge crossing north of Amherst upstream to <del>First street in Nelsonville</del> <u>Poncho creek</u>	a. Hook and line <del>but only.</del> <u>Only</u> artificial lures may be used	No early catch and release season – First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	+ 3 <u>in total but only 1 over 20"</u>	<del>Brown trout 18, brook trout 10</del> <u>All trout kept shall be between 10 and 13, or over 20</u>
6. <del>Tomorrow river from Clementson road upstream to Poncho creek</del>	<del>a. Hook and line but only artificial lures may be used</del>	<del>No early catch and release season – First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	<del>1</del>	<del>Brown 14, brook trout 10</del>	

SECTION 38. NR 20.20(51)(f) is amended to read:

**(51) PRICE** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Foulds springs, Hogsback (Spur lake) springs, Price creek downstream from Lower Price lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
	2. Patterson lake, Twin lake, <u>Dave lake</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	7

3. Butternut creek and tributaries, Camp 4 springs, Camp 4 creek, Carpenter creek, Douglas creek and tributary, Elk river and tributaries, Foulds creek and tributaries upstream from Forest Service road 519, Little Elk river and tributaries, Little Willow creek, Mondeaux creek, Mount Pelee creek, Murray creek and tributaries, Neibauer springs, Newman creek, Newman springs, Nine Mile creek, Smith creek and tributaries, Spirit river	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7
5 3. All other waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	10 in total but only 5 may be brown trout and rainbow trout 5 in total	None 7

SECTION 39. NR 20.20(53)(f) is amended to read:

(53) RICHLAND (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. Babb Hollow creek, Coulter Hollow creek, East Branch of Mill creek, Happy Hollow creek, Higgins creek, Hood Hollow creek, Jacquish Hollow creek, Keppler branch, Lost Hollow creek, Mill creek and tributaries (above USH 14 except Hood Hollow road upstream to CTHE), Miller branch, Pine Valley creek, Smith Hollow creek (upstream from Robin Hollow road, West Branch of Mill creek, Wheat Hollow creek, Willow creek, and unnamed tributaries (upstream from Ithaca dam except Smyth Hollow road upstream to STH 58))	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	2. Camp creek and unnamed tributaries, East Branch of Marshall creek, Elk creek and unnamed tributaries, Fancy creek and unnamed tributaries, Gault Hollow creek (upstream from CTHH), Grinsell creek, Hansell creek, Hoke creek, Hynek Hollow creek, Marshall creek, Melancton creek and unnamed tributaries, South Bear creek, South Branch of Marshall creek, West Branch of Marshall creek,	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3	Brown and rainbow trout shall be under 14 or over 18, brook trout shall be under 10 or over 14

1. <u>Bear creek (STH 130 bridge in T9N, R2E, S14 upstream to county line), Little Willow creek (downstream from Spiral road), Pine river (uppermost STH 80 bridge downstream to CTH AA), Willow creek (STH 58 bridge 2.75 miles south of Ithaca upstream to Lost Hollow road, and STH 58 bridge ¼ mile north of Loyd upstream to county line)</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>2 in total</u>	<u>12</u>
2. <u>Pine river (uppermost STH 80 bridge upstream to CTH CH in village of Yuba)</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	<u>=</u>
3. <u>Ash creek (upstream from STH 80), Gault Hollow creek (downstream from CTH H), Melancthon creek, Mill creek (Hood Hollow road upstream to CTH E USH 14 upstream to Quarry Hill road), Smith Hollow creek (downstream from Robin Smyth Hollow road), west branch Pine river (Old County Farm road drive upstream to CTH H Spangler Ridge road), Willow creek (Smyth Lost Hollow road upstream to STH 58 bridge ¼ mile north of Loyd)</u>	a. <u>Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	<u>=</u>
4. All waters not listed	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>3 in total</u>	<u>9</u>

SECTION 40. NR 20.20(54)(e) is amended to read:

(54) **ROCK** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(e) Trout and salmon	<u>1. Raccoon creek and Raccoon creek (east branch)</u>	a. <u>Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	<u>=</u>
	<u>2. All lakes and ponds</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>January 1 to September 30</u>	<u>3 in total</u>	<u>9</u>
	<u>3. All other waters</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>3 in total</u>	<u>9</u>

SECTION 41. NR 20.20(55)(d) is repealed and recreated to read:

(55) **RUSK** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(d) Trout and salmon	1. Bass (Weyerhauser) lake	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1</u>	<u>1 in total</u>	<u>15</u>
	2. Devils creek trout pond, Corbett lake, Hawkins mill pond	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1</u>	<u>5 in total</u>	<u>7</u>

3. Three Lakes Number one	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	3 in total	9
4. All other lakes and spring ponds not listed in subds. 1. to 3., Big Weigor creek, Deer creek, Devil's creek, Hemlock creek, Little Weigor creek, Main creek (south fork), Soft Maple creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
5. All other streams not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	7

SECTION 42. NR 20.20(56)(i) is amended to read:

(56) SAUK (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(i) Trout and salmon	1. Devil's lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	3 in total	9
	<u>2. Bear creek (county line upstream to CTH N and upstream from Croal Hollow road), Willow creek (upstream from county line)</u>	<u>a. Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>2 in total</u>	<u>12</u>
	<del>2.3. Rowley, Smith Hollow and Willow creeks creek</del>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	<del>3.4. Bear creek (CTH N upstream to Croal Hollow road), Beaver creek, Dell creek (STH 23 Coon Bluff road upstream to South avenue), McCarville creek (downstream from McCarville road)</del>	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	All trout caught shall be immediately released	-
	<del>4.5. Beaver and Camels creek Bear creek (CTH N upstream to Croal Hollow road)</del>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	All trout caught shall be immediately released	-
	<u>5.6. All waters not listed</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9

SECTION 43. NR 20.20(57)(h) is amended to read:

(57) SAWYER (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(h) Trout and salmon	1. Hauer springs, Osgood lake, Porcupine lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>2 in total but only 1 may be longer than 15"</del> <u>1</u>	<del>None</del> <u>15</u>
	2. Namekagon river from STH 63 upstream to Pacwawong dam	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3 in total but only 1 may be longer than 15"</del> <u>1</u>	<del>None but the possession of fish from 10 through 15 inches is prohibited</del> <u>15</u>
	3. Namekagon river downstream from Hay ward lake.	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9

	b. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used	October 1 to May 1	0	--
4. <u>Silverthorn lake, Black Dan Lake</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	1 in total	<del>None</del> <u>15</u>
5. <u>South branch Marshall creek</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	None but the possession of brown or rainbow trout from 14" through 18" is prohibited and the possession of brook trout from 10" through 14" is prohibited
5. <u>Round lake</u>	a. <u>Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1</u>	<u>1 in total</u>	<u>18</u>
6. Ashagon lake, Camp Smith lake, Perch lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	3 in total	9
7. Brunet river, <u>Couderay river</u> , Deer creek (Meteor township), <u>Eddy creek</u> , Little Weigor creek, McDermott brook, Price creek, Totagatic river, <u>Thornapple river</u> , Venison creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
8. <del>Alder creek, Badger creek, Bean creek, Bear creek, Beaver creek, Benson creek, Blueberry creek, Casey creek, Chippanazie creek, Conner creek, Crooked rapids, Dead creek, Deer creek (Winter township), Devils creek, Eddy creek, Forty one creek, Grindstone creek, Hackett creek, Hatchery creek, Hauer creek, Hay creek, Hemlock Spur creek, Knapp Stout creek, Knuteson creek, Little Connors creek, Log creek, Long creek, Maple creek, Mason creek, Mosquito branch, Moss creek, Pine creek, Pipestone creek, Rainbow creek, Spooky Bay creek, Sucker creek, Swan creek, Swift creek, Thirty three creek, Tupper creek (north branch), Yarnell creek</del>	a. Hook and line	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	5 in total	7
9. <u>Fiddler creek</u> , Namekagon river from Airport road upstream to Phipps dam, Stress springs	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	0	--
10. All other lakes and spring ponds not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
11. All other streams not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>10 in total but only 5 may be brown trout and rainbow trout</del> <u>5 in total</u>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>



SECTION 44. NR 20.20(60)(d) is repealed and recreated to read:

**(60) ST. CROIX** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(d) Trout and salmon	1. Apple river, north fork of the Willow river, and the main stem of the Willow river from Willow Falls in Willow River state park upstream to the confluence of the north and south forks.	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 <u>in total</u>	7
	2. Glenn and Perch lakes	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	3 <u>in total</u>	9
	3. Kinnickinnic river and Parker creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5 in total	5 trout under 10 or 4 trout under 10 and 1 over 14
	4. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	Brown and rainbow trout 12 Brook trout 8

SECTION 45. NR 20.20(61)(c) is amended to read:

**(61) TAYLOR** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(c) Trout and salmon	1. <u>Big Rib</u> river downstream from STH 64	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to <del>March 1</del> <u>September 30</u>	0	--
	2. <u>Big Rib</u> river from CTH C downstream to STH 64	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9
	3. Camp 8 flowage, Spruce lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	7
	4. <del>Black river upstream from Medford, Fisher creek, Mink creek (Chelsea township), Mink creek (Goodrich township), Sheepbranch creek upstream from STH 102, Silver creek upstream from Chequamagon national forest, Wood creek</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</del>	<del>5 in total</del>	<del>7</del>
§ 4. All other waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>10 in total but only 5 brown and rainbow trout</del> <u>5 in total</u>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>	

SECTION 46. NR 20.20(62)(c)3,4,5,&6 are amended to read:

**(62) TREMPEALEAU** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(c) Trout and salmon	3. Abraham Coulee creek, Bear creek, Beaver creek <del>except from STH 53 (S3, T19N, R8W) downstream to STH 53 (S16, T19N, R8W)</del> , Beaver creek (north fork), Buffalo river except from CTH O downstream to Town road (S8, T24N, R7W), Buffalo river (north fork), Buffalo river (south fork), Traverse Valley creek, Trempealeau river, Vosse Coulee creek, Washington Coulee creek	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>3 in total</u>	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	4. Beaver creek from <del>STH 53 (S3, T19N, R8W) downstream to STH 53 (S16, T19N, R8W)</del>	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	2 trout per day, only 1 may be a brown trout	Brown trout 18, brook trout 10
	5. Buffalo river (CTHO downstream to Town road (S8, T24N, R7W))	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	2 trout per day, only 1 may be a brown trout	Brown trout 18, brook and rainbow 10
	6. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<u>5 in total</u>	7

SECTION 47. NR 20.20(63)(c) is amended to read:

**(63) VERNON** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(c) Trout and salmon	1. Esofea pond	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	5	7
	2. Bishop branch, Coon creek (CTH KK upstream to CTH P), Jersey Valley lake, Runge Hollow lake, Sidie Hollow lake	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3	Brown and rainbow trout 12, brook trout 8
	3. Bear creek (south), Elk creek and Melancthon	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3	Brown and rainbow trout shall be under 14 or over 18, brook trout shall be under 10 or over 14
	4. <u>1. Esofea branch upstream of Rung Hollow lake to Saxford road, Kickapoo river (west fork) from Hwy. 82 upstream to CTH S and Bloomingdale road (S6, T13N, R3W), Melancthon creek, Seas branch upstream from impoundment in T13N R4W S14, Creek 16-6 (T13N, R7W, S16), Creek 29-4 (T13N, R7W, S29)</u>	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used <del>In addition, only barbless hooks may be used on Seas branch.</del>	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	All trout caught shall be immediately released	-

5 2. Timber Coulee <u>creek</u> from CTH P upstream to Olstad road	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>4</del> <u>All trout caught shall be immediately released</u>	<del>44</del> -
<u>3. Timber Coulee creek other than that portion from CTH P upstream to Olstad road, Bishop branch</u>	<u>a. Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>5 in total but none may be longer than 12"</u>	<u>Maximum length limit 12"</u>
6 4. All waters not listed	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 <u>in total</u>	9

SECTION 48. NR 20.20(64)(g) is amended to read:

(64) VILAS (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	1. Palette lake	a. None	No open season	--	--
	2. Trout lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	1 <u>in total</u>	30
	<del>3. Black Oak lake</del>	<del>a. Hook and line</del>	<del>Lake trout—First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30. Other trout—First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1</del>	<del>5 in total but only 1 may be a lake trout</del>	<del>Lake trout 26, other trout 12</del>
	<u>3. Shannon lake</u>	<u>a. Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30</u>	<u>5 in total</u>	<u>12</u>
	4. <del>Black Oak lake</del> , Crystal (T41N, R7E, S27) and Little Trout lakes	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30.	1 <u>in total</u>	26
	5. Wildwood lake	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to November 15.	5 in total	12
	6. Fallison lake	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to November 15.	5 in total	<del>8</del> 7
	7. Fence lake	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total but only 3 may be brown trout	Brook trout 7, brown trout 20
	8. Lac du Lune, <del>Long, Shannon, Sparkling</del> , Spectacle and Stormy lakes	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	5 in total	12
	9. Deerskin river from Blackjack creek downstream to <del>Deerskin flowage</del>	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30.	Brook trout 2, brown trout 1	Brook trout <del>40</del> 12, brown trout 18

10. Allequash creek, Allequash springs, Goodyear springs, Military creek, Pioneer creek from Church road downstream to Wisconsin river, Salsich springs, Salsich creek, Siphon creek, Siphon springs, Tamarack creek downstream from Rummels road Bluegill lake, Dadek lake, Fire Fly lake, Little John Jr. Lake, Otto Mielke lake, Pauto lake	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>3</del> <u>5</u> in total	Brown and rainbow trout <u>12</u> , brook trout <u>8</u> <u>None</u>
11. Blackjack creek, Blackjack springs, Deerskin river from Blackjack creek upstream to Long lake, Elvoy creek and spring ponds, Mishonagon creek, North Trout springs, North creek, Papoose creek, Plum creek, Rainbow springs, Spring Meadow springs, Spring creek (T40N, R5E) and spring ponds, Spring Meadow creek, Stevenson springs, Stevenson creek, Tamarack creek upstream from Rummels road	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>5</del> <u>5</u> in total	<u>7</u>
<del>12</del> <u>11</u> . All other waters	a. Hook and line.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>None</del>	<del>10 but only 5 brown trout and rainbow trout</del>
			<u>5 in total</u>	<u>7</u>

SECTION 49. NR 20.20(66)(f) is amended to read:

**(66) WASHBURN** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. <del>Spring lake</del> <u>Brill river</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>5-3</del> <u>3</u> in total	<del>7</del> <u>Brown and rainbow 12, brook 8</u>
	2. Sawmill lake, Tozer lake	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1	<del>5</del> <u>2</u> in total	<del>7</del> <u>12</u>
	<u>3. All landlocked lakes and ponds without outlet streams, not otherwise listed</u>	<u>a. Hook and line</u>	<u>First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to March 1</u>	<u>5 in total</u>	<u>7</u>
	<del>3</del> <u>4. All other waters not listed streams, spring ponds, and lakes with outlet streams, not otherwise listed</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	<del>10 in total but only 5 may be brown trout and rainbow trout</del> <u>5 in total</u>	<del>None</del> <u>7</u>

SECTION 50. NR 20.20(68)(f)1 is repealed and recreated to read:

**(68) WAUKESHA** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	1. McKeawn springs, Paradise Springs creek upstream from CTH N, and Scuppernong springs	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used.	January 1 to September 30	0	None
----------------------	---	--	---------------------------	---	------

SECTION 51. NR 20.20(69)(f)2. is amended to read:

**(69) WAUPACA** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	2. Waupaca river from River road upstream to Portage county line	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used.	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	1 in total	Brook and rainbow trout <del>10</del> <u>12</u> , brown trout 18
----------------------	--	--	--	------------	--

SECTION 52. NR 20.20(70)(f)2 & 3 are amended to read:

**(70) WAUSHARA** (for species or waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(f) Trout and salmon	2. White river (main branch) upstream from Lower White river millpond	a. Hook and line. Only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total but only 1 brown trout may be longer than 15 inches	<del>Brown trout 12, brook and rainbow trout 9</del>
	3. Mekan river and springs, Pine river (lower) downstream from Wild Rose millpond, Willow creek (downstream from Blackhawk road), <u>White river</u>	a. Hook and line	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	3 in total	9

SECTION 53. NR 20.20(72)(g)2. is amended to read:

**(72) WOOD** (for species and waters not listed, see sub. (73))

(g) Trout and salmon	2. Ten Mile creek downstream from Rangeline road	a. Hook and line, only artificial lures may be used	First Saturday in May at 5:00 a.m. to September 30	1	<del>16</del> <u>15</u>
----------------------	--	---	--	---	-------------------------

The foregoing rules were approved and adopted by the State of Wisconsin Natural Resources Board on May 22, 2002.

The foregoing rules shall take effect on March 1, 2003 as provided in s. 227.22(2)(b), Stats.

Dated at Madison, Wisconsin, \_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Darrell Bazzell, Secretary

(SEAL)